

RULES OF PROCEDURE

ICES CM 2018

Rules of Procedure

18 October 2018

The Rules should be read in association with the
ICES Convention of 1964



ICES

International Council for
the Exploration of the Sea

CIEM

Conseil International pour
l'Exploration de la Mer

Revision history: Changes adopted by Council on 18 October 2018, 22 October 2014, 22 October 2008, 19 February 2008, 27 October 2006, 20 October 2005, 29 September 2004, 3 October 2001

**International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer**

H. C. Andersens Boulevard 44-46
DK-1553 Copenhagen V
Denmark
Telephone (+45) 33 38 67 00
Telefax (+45) 33 93 42 15
www.ices.dk
info@ices.dk

© 2019 International Council for the Exploration of the Sea

Rules of Procedure

| | |
|--|---|
| Representation | 1 |
| Voting | 1 |
| President | 2 |
| Vice-Presidents | 3 |
| Bureau..... | 3 |
| General Secretary | 4 |
| Order of Business | 5 |
| Finance | 5 |
| Committees..... | 7 |
| Chairs and Vice-Chairs Committees..... | 8 |

Representation

Rule 1.

Each Contracting Party shall inform the General Secretary in writing of the names of its Delegates on the Council. Delegates shall inform the General Secretary in writing of the names of experts and advisers appointed to attend scientific and business meetings when there is a requirement for *pro forma* representation.

Rule 2.

The Council may invite any Government not party to the Convention and any international or other organisations having objectives related to those of the Council to be represented at its meetings by observers.

Rule 3.

- 3.1. Plenary sessions of the Council shall be open to attendance by all Delegates. The Chair of the Science Committee (i.e. the Consultative Committee as referred to in the ICES Convention) and the Chair of the Advisory Committee shall each have the right, *ex officio*, to attend and address such sessions. Any other person, with the agreement of the Council, may attend and address such sessions.
- 3.2. The General Assembly comprises Delegates, experts, advisers, observers and any other person attending the meeting of the Council with its approval. Any of those present may, unless the Council decides otherwise, address the Assembly.
- 3.3. Delegates may attend business sessions of subordinate bodies of the Council, such as the Bureau and Finance Committee. They may also designate individuals to attend Council meetings and business sessions of subordinate bodies of the Council. The General Secretary shall be informed in advance of the intention of delegates or their designee to attend such sessions. The Chair of the Council or of business sessions of subordinate bodies may limit attendance if necessary because of limitation of space, or if the subject matter of the session is deemed to be sensitive and requires confidentiality. Delegates, or their designee, may address the sessions they attend, at the discretion of the Chair, without the right to vote.

Voting

Rule 4.

- 4.1. At the plenary sessions of the Council each Contracting Party shall have one vote which may be cast by either Delegate where more than one is appointed.
- 4.2. At any meeting of a Committee, the members (or any Delegate) may vote, provided that at meetings of the Committees established according to Rule 28 any Contracting Party shall exercise only one vote.

Rule 5.

- 5.1. Except as otherwise provided in the Convention, when a vote is taken in plenary sessions of the Council or in meetings of its Committees, a simple majority of the votes cast for or against shall be decisive.
- 5.2. In the event of an even division of votes in a Committee other than the Bureau the proposal before the Committee shall be regarded as rejected.
- 5.3. The Council and Committees shall vote by show of hands, except that:

5.3.1. in the Council a vote by roll call shall be taken if a two-thirds majority is required by the Convention or upon request of a Delegate;

5.3.2. all elections shall be decided by secret ballot after confidential nominations in writing.

5.4. For election to the office of President, First Vice-President, Vice-President or Chair or Vice-Chair of a Committee a candidate who secures votes numbering more than half the number of Contracting Parties represented at the meeting at which the vote is taken, shall be declared elected. If no candidate secures the number of votes required for election, then:

5.4.1. if there are only two candidates, voting shall be continued until a candidate is elected;

5.4.2. if there are three or more candidates, the candidate receiving the lowest number of votes shall be eliminated and voting continued in accordance with this paragraph until a candidate is elected, provided that if there are two or more candidates receiving the lowest number of votes it shall be decided by separate vote which candidate shall be eliminated.

5.5. If the offices of two or more Vice-Presidents have to be filled at the same meeting separate votes shall be taken for each office.

5.6. At any time not more than one member of the Bureau shall be from the same member country.

Rule 6.

In cases of urgency between meetings of the Council a vote of the Contracting Parties may be taken by post or by electronic means, in which a simple majority shall be a simple majority of the Contracting Parties.

Rule 7.

Delegates representing a simple majority of the Contracting Parties shall constitute a *quorum* for plenary sessions of the Council.

President

Rule 8.

The President shall be elected for a term of three years and shall not be eligible for re-election for the immediately succeeding term.

Rule 9.

The duties of the President shall be:

9.1. to preside at the General Assembly and plenary sessions of the Council, and at all meetings of the Bureau;

9.2. to decide when and where the Bureau shall meet;

9.3. to decide any questions of order raised at meetings over which he/she presides subject to the right of any Delegate to request that any ruling by the President shall be submitted for decision by vote;

9.4. generally, to make such decisions and give such directions to the General Secretary as will ensure that the business of the Council is carried out efficiently and in accordance with the decisions of the Council or of the Bureau;

9.5. by virtue of his/her office, to attend and take part in the meetings of any Committee of the Council.

Rule 10.

In the event of the office of President falling vacant from resignation or otherwise, the Council shall elect a new President at its next meeting.

Vice-Presidents

Rule 11.

11.1. The First Vice-President shall be elected for a period of three years and shall not be eligible for re-election for the immediately succeeding term;

11.2. Any other Vice-President shall be elected for a period of three years and shall not be eligible for re-election for the immediately succeeding term;

11.3. Any Vice-President may resign at any time and shall vacate office on ceasing to be a Delegate;

11.4. In the event of an office of any Vice-President falling vacant the Council shall elect a new Vice-President at its next meeting.

Rule 12.

12.1. Whenever the office of President is vacant the First Vice-President shall act as President until a new President assumes office in accordance with the provisions of Article 10 of the Convention; the First Vice-President shall also act as President whenever the President is unable to act.

12.2. The duties of the First Vice-President under paragraph (12.1) of this Rule shall devolve on the next senior Vice-President able to act if the office of First Vice-President is vacant or if he/she is unable to act.

12.3. A Vice-President shall not be precluded from acting as Delegate of a Contracting Party by whom he/she is appointed merely by virtue of being a Vice-President; but the First or any other Vice-President shall forthwith cease to act as a Delegate during any period when he/she is acting as President and during any such period the Contracting Party which appointed him/her shall have the right to appoint another person to serve as Delegate in his/her place.

Bureau

Rule 13.

It shall be the duty of the Bureau:

13.1. to convene meetings of the Council in accordance with Article 7 of the Convention, to prepare the agenda for each meeting (after considering any proposals made by Delegates), and to circulate it to Contracting Parties and to Delegates one month before the date of the meeting;

13.2. to prepare for consideration by the Finance Committee at each annual meeting:

13.2.1. the audited accounts for the preceding financial year;

13.2.2. a preliminary account for the current financial year; and

- 13.2.3. the Budget for the ensuing financial year and a Forecast Budget for the following year, and, after considering the report of the Finance Committee on these documents, to present them with such alterations as it may deem desirable to the Council;
- 13.3. to be responsible for the investment of funds of the Council and to give an account of such investments at the end of each ordinary annual meeting;
- 13.4. to advise the Council on the appointment of a General Secretary;
- 13.5. subject to any general directions of the Council, to appoint such other staff as may be required for the purpose of the Council and to determine their duties and terms of appointment;
- 13.6. to consult the Science Committee on all matters affecting the scientific work of the Council and take into account advice tendered by that Committee.
- 13.7. to present to the Council for approval with such observations and amendments as it may deem appropriate, recommendations of all Committees including the Science Committee and the Advisory Committee, and to advise the Council as to the financial obligations involved in the approval of such recommendations;
- 13.8. to be responsible for the execution of resolutions of the Council and for all duties incidental to the Council's affairs and to report thereon to the Council at each ordinary annual meeting.

Rule 14.

- 14.1. Meetings of the Bureau shall take place as, when and where the President may decide.
- 14.2. The Bureau shall keep minutes of its meetings.
- 14.3. The Bureau shall arrive at its decisions by simple majority of the votes cast for or against. The President shall have a deliberative vote and, in the case of an even division of votes, a casting vote. Resolutions may be taken either at meetings of the Bureau or by correspondence.
- 14.4. Subject to this Rule the Bureau shall settle its own procedure.

General Secretary

Rule 15.

- 15.1. The General Secretary shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Council and responsible to the Bureau for the management of the Council's staff and office.
- 15.2. The General Secretary shall be responsible for the receipt of all monies due to the Council and for disbursements in accordance with the Budget; he/she is authorised to meet unforeseen expenditure subject, in cases of doubt, to consultation with the President, and to sign cheques on behalf of the Council or authorise their signature; he/she shall also be responsible for the preparation of the Council's accounts and for drafting the Budget.
- 15.3. The General Secretary shall attend the plenary sessions of the Council and meetings of the Bureau and, as far as possible, meetings of the Science Committee. He/she may attend meetings of any other Committee of the Council.

- 15.4. The General Secretary shall provide secretarial services for all meetings of the Council and of the Bureau and, in consultation with the Chairs of Committees, arrange for such secretarial services as may be needed for meetings of the Council's Committees.
- 15.5. The General Secretary shall issue as soon as possible after each meeting of the Council a report of the proceedings and transmit it to the Contracting Parties.
- 15.6. The General Secretary shall circulate to Delegates a provisional agenda for each ordinary meeting of the Council and intimate the date on which proposals for inclusion should be submitted for consideration by the Bureau.
- 15.7. The General Secretary shall be responsible for all matters connected with the Council's publications subject to consultation with appropriate office holders of the Council, including editors.
- 15.8. The General Secretary shall perform other such functions as may be assigned to him/her by the Council or the Bureau.
- 15.9. All communications to and from the Council shall be addressed to or emanate from the General Secretary, provided that all communications to Contracting Parties and also contracts, except those of a routine character, shall be signed by the President and the General Secretary.

Order of Business

Rule 16.

No proposal involving changes in the Rules of Procedure shall be considered at a meeting of the Council unless either (a) two months' notice of the proposal has been given to the Contracting Parties and Delegates, or (b) the Delegates present consent by unanimous vote.

Finance

Rule 17.

The financial year of the Council shall be from 1 January to 31 December.

Rule 18.

- 18.1. The expenditure of the Council shall be regulated in accordance with a Budget approved by the Council at its ordinary annual meeting. A statement of the proposed Budget and a Forecast Budget for the ensuing year shall be circulated to Contracting Parties and Delegates two months before the meeting. The Council shall on the basis of the Forecast Budget determine the contributions to be paid by the Contracting Parties for the year to which that Budget relates.
- 18.2. The Budget approved by the Council shall not alter the contributions from Contracting Parties agreed in the Forecast Budget for that year, but may make changes in other sources of income, and in expenditures.
- 18.3. Excess of Income over Expenditure, or Expenditure over Income, on the annual accounts, shall be included as respectively Income or Expenditure in the next following Forecast Budget.

18.4. In the unlikely event of the dissolution of the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, and after the reimbursement of contracts, project advances, and contracting party contributions in accordance with their shares in ICES, all assets will be distributed to another non-profit organization with similar goals, as approved by the Contracting Parties.

Rule 19.

19.1. The contributions of Contracting Parties in respect of any financial year should be paid on the 22 July preceding its commencement, but not later than 30 days after the beginning of the financial year.

19.2. Requests to Contracting Parties for the payment of their contributions shall be accompanied by a statement of the Council's proposed Budget for the year to which they relate.

Rule 20.

20.1. The Danish Delegate or Delegates and the General Secretary are charged with the safekeeping of the Council's funds.

20.2. The liquid funds of the Council and all bonds and other documents relating to the invested funds of the Council shall be lodged in a bank.

20.3. The Council's funds may be invested in bonds in which capital belonging to minors or other capital subject to public administration or control is allowed under prevailing Danish law.

20.4. Any document relating to the Council's invested funds signed on behalf of the Council by the General Secretary and one of the Danish Delegates shall be valid.

20.5. In case of sale or change of bonds of the Council the General Secretary and one of the Danish Delegates are jointly authorised to give receipts valid in law and to perform all dispositions under real law.

20.6. The General Secretary and one of the Danish Delegates are authorised to raise loans for the purpose of the Council on the security of the Council's bonds.

20.7. The Council's Auditor shall check the invested and liquid funds as of 31 December each year as soon as possible after that date for the purpose of preparing the Balance Sheet, and they shall once annually, at such time as they may choose, inspect the Council's funds. The Council's Auditor may consult the Danish Delegate or Delegates on any question in connection with the accounts.

Rule 21.

21.1. The Council shall pay the travelling and subsistence expenses incurred by the President and the Chair of the Science Committee and of the Chair of the Advisory Committee in attending meetings of the Council or the Bureau or when engaged on the business of the Council.

21.2. The travelling and subsistence expenses of the Vice-Presidents incurred in attending meetings of the Bureau other than those held in conjunction with ordinary meetings of the Council shall be paid by the Council.

21.3. The Council may pay the travelling and subsistence expenses of any person appointed by it to perform duties on behalf of the Council.

21.4. Travelling and subsistence expenses paid by the Council shall be calculated in accordance with a scale approved by the Council.

Rule 22.

The Council may pay any person appointed by it to perform any prescribed duties for promoting work of the Council, and also to the Chairs of Committees such fees as it may approve from time to time.

Committees

Rule 23.

23.1. The Committees of the Council are those set out in Rules 24 to 28 with the terms of reference therein assigned to them and the constitution respectively specified in those Rules and Rule 29. Provided that in order to avoid unnecessary duplication or to secure better coordination between the work of Committees with related terms of reference the Council may give directions from time to time about the assignment of particular subjects to Committees and the relevant Rules shall be interpreted accordingly.

23.2. In addition, the Council may from time to time appoint such *ad hoc* committees as it thinks fit to perform such functions as it may determine.

Rule 24.

24.1. The Finance Committee shall examine:

24.1.1. the audited Accounts of the Council for the preceding financial year;

24.1.2. the preliminary Accounts for the current financial year;

24.1.3. a Budget for the ensuing financial year and a Forecast Budget for the following year.

24.2. The Committee shall consider such other matters as may be referred to it by the Bureau or as it may deem desirable and shall report its observations and conclusions to the Bureau.

24.3. The Finance Committee shall consist of one of the Delegates of Denmark and four other Delegates appointed by the Council for a period of three years, after which they shall not be eligible for re-appointment for the immediately succeeding term unless a member of the committee is appointed as Chair of the Finance Committee in which case he/she may serve one additional term. When a member of the Committee ceases to be a Delegate, he/she shall immediately vacate office.

24.4. The Council's First Vice-President should attend the meetings of the Committee without the right to vote.

24.5. The Chair of the Committee shall be appointed in accordance with Rule 30.2.

Rule 25.

25.1. The Consultative Committee, as in the Convention, will be called the ICES Science Committee (SCICOM).

25.2. The Science Committee (SCICOM) shall oversee all ICES scientific interests.

25.3. Rules for the governance and management of the SCICOM are agreed by Council resolution.

Rule 26.

26.1. The Advisory Committee (ACOM) shall oversee all ICES advisory services.

26.2. Rules for the governance and management of the ACOM are agreed by Council resolution.

Rule 27.

The Science Committee will ensure that all publications of the Council, and the arrangements for their preparation and issue are appropriately considered.

Rule 28.

The Science Committee, on behalf of the Council, shall institute structures and processes to ensure that *inter alia* science programmes, regional considerations, science disciplines, and publications are appropriately considered.

Rule 29.

The composition of structures established according to Rule 28 shall be determined by the Science Committee.

Chairs and Vice-Chairs Committees

Rule 30.

30.1. According to the agreed procedure¹, the Chair of the Science Committee shall be selected by the recruitment panel and appointed by the Council. The Chair shall hold office for a term of three years, with the possibility of one additional three-year term (limit of two successive terms).

30.2. The Chair of the Finance Committee shall be nominated by the Bureau from among the members of the Committee and appointed by the Council; the Chair of the Finance Committee shall vacate office on ceasing to be a Delegate.

30.3. According to the agreed procedure¹, the Chair of the Advisory Committee shall be selected by the recruitment panel and appointed by the Council. The Vice-Chairs are selected by the Advisory Committee and appointed by the Council. The Chair and Vice Chair(s) shall hold office for a term of three years, with the possibility of one additional three-year term (limit of two successive terms), subject to approval by the Council.

30.4. The Chair and the Vice-Chair(s) of the Science Committee and of the Advisory Committee shall not serve as a representative of a Contracting Party. At the time they assume the office of Chair or Vice-Chair, the Contracting Party should appoint another representative to the committee.

30.5. The Chairs of the Science Committee and the Advisory Committee on assuming office shall cease to be Chair of any other Committee and the Committees concerned shall forthwith select successors.

30.6. If, for any reason, the Chair of any Committee is unable to complete his/her term of office, or is temporarily unable to act, the President shall nominate an interim Chair who will serve for the remainder of the year, or for such shorter period as may be decided by the President, until a new chair can be selected.

¹ Refer to procedure outlined in CM 2018 Del-11.1

Rule 31.

The Chair of the Science Committee (or in his/her absence the Vice-Chair) and the Chair of ACOM (or in his/her absence the Vice-Chair) shall have *ex officio* the right to attend ordinary meetings of the Bureau.

Rule 32.

The functions of Chairs with respect to structures and processes established according to Rules 27 and 28 shall be established by SCICOM.